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Chairman’s Message

In the Name of Allah, the Most Gracious, the 
Most Merciful

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am honored and 
pleased to present to you, our valued shareholders,               
Al Meera Group’s Annual Report for the year ended                           
31 December 2016.

The year 2016 has witnessed Al Meera’s crossing of several 
milestones, continued growth, and solid financial results. 
While the Group’s gross profit increased by 3.4% from 
QAR 427.2 million to QAR 441.7 million, and the gross 
shops rental income recorded a 37.6% increase reaching               
QAR 69.3 million, sales witnessed a 6.3% jump, reaching 
QAR 2,604.4 million as of 31 December 2016. Al Meera 
Group’s operating income also increased from QAR 498.6 
million (last period) to QAR 531.6 million (current period), a 
6.6% increase over the course of the year.

The year 2016 also witnessed significant progress in the 
Company’s expansion plan, which aims to bring Al Meera’s 
signature shopping experience to more neighborhoods 
across the various regions of Qatar, while effectively 
contributing to the real estate development of areas that 
are witnessing a population boom or where existing retail 
services are deficient.

During the year, Al Meera signed an agreement to build six 
new stores in Rawdat Aba El Heran, Azghawa, Leabaib, Umm 
Qarn, Al Khor and Sailiya; in addition to making headway 
regarding the finalization of the five new shopping centers 
in various communities of the country, bringing progress 
to 11 out of the 14 shopping centers’ expansion plan set by 
the Company in 2015.

Al Meera’s 14-branch expansion plan bore the first fruit of 
its effort before the end of the year, with the opening of its 
new branches in Bu Sidra and North Sailiya (Al Miarad), set 
to be followed by the launch of three additional shopping 
centers in succession. The Company’s five new stores, 
located in North Sailiya (Al Miarad), Um Salal Ali, Al Wakra 
(East), Leaibab 2 and Bu Sidra will add a total of 9,709 m2 
supermarket area to its presence in Qatar.

 Al Meera’s newly-opened and upcoming shopping centers 
are built in accordance with international standards, 
exhibiting modern interior designs and lighting systems 
that ensure a distinctive shopping experience. Each center 
consists of a supermarket equipped with world-class 
technologies and facilities, a large accommodating parking 
space, and a diversity of shops, restaurants and other stores. 
The state-of-the-art stores are designed to provide citizens 
and residents in key suburbs with unmatched shopping 
convenience, a vast range of competitively priced, high 
quality products and best-in-class services, further fulfilling 
the Company’s vision of becoming consumers’ ‘Favourite 
Neighbourhood Retailer’.

Thanks to the Company’s relentless commitment to its 
expansion strategy, in line with the State’s urbanization 
plans, today Al Meera boasts a network of 47 branches with 
42 in Qatar, and 5 in the Sultanate of Oman. 

Through an ambitious growth strategy and a continuous 
improvement in facilities and service standards, Al Meera 
not only sets the benchmark for retail chains in the 
country and regions, it also demonstrates the Company’s 
ability to bring the latest innovations in retail shopping to 
consumers in the State of Qatar, while playing a pivotal role 
in the urban development of the country, in line with the 
Qatar National Vision 2030.

H.E. Sheikh Thani Bin Thamer Bin 
Mohamed Al - Thani, 
Chairman of the Board

Chairman’s Message
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The Company’s outstanding achievements, continuous 
growth and sustained profitability over its decade-long 
history, culminated in Al Meera’s recognition as one of five 
Qatari firms in the Marmore Mena Intelligence’s 2016 list of 
the ‘30 most valuable non-banking companies in the GCC’.

Throughout its eleven years of excellence, Al Meera has 
upheld an unwavering commitment to social and cultural 
values, and has made strides to make a real difference in 
the consumer experiences of community members in 
every corner of Qatar. With the aid of an outflow of events 
and initiatives that yield a sustainable positive impact on 
individuals, the environment and society as a whole, the 
Company continues to play a leading role in strengthening 
the country’s economic and social fabric, while honoring its 
commitment to the realization of the Qatar National Vision 
2030 and achieving progress in each of its four pillars.

In 2016, Al Meera has spared no effort to live up to its role-
model status in the realm of good corporate citizenship, 
with a lineup of humanitarian, social and environmental 
initiatives that were successfully met with great acclaim 
and engagement from all segments of society. Al Meera’s 
fruitful community development efforts and initiatives 
were proudly translated in winning the 2016 Qatar Social 
Responsibility Award for the Large Enterprises category.

In conclusion, I would like to express our sincere 
appreciation and deep gratitude, on behalf of the Board 
of Directors, to His Highness Sheikh Tamim Bin Hamad Al 
Thani, the Emir, for his wise vision, leadership, support and 
guidance aimed at raising the level of the local economy 

and financial institutions, which supports the development 
of Qatar. We would also like to thank His Highness the Father 
Emir Sheikh Hamad Bin Khalifa al-Thani, who built the solid 
foundation upon which the nation is being constructed 
and developed. The Board would also like to thank His 
Excellency Sheikh Abdullah Bin Nasser Bin Khalifa Al Thani, 
Prime Minister and Minister of Interior, for his continuous 
support and guidance. Our appreciation and thanks also 
go to the Companies Control Department at the Ministry 
of Economy and Commerce for its constant cooperation 
and help.

We would like to sincerely thank you, our valued 
shareholders, for your continued commitment and support 
that has enabled Al Meera to scale to new heights and 
move steadily towards our goal of becoming the leading 
retail company for consumer goods in Qatar, in line with 
our slogan “Your Favourite Neighbourhood Retailer”. Our 
thanks are also extended to the executive management 
and employees of Al Meera for their dedication and 
diligence.

We ask Allah, the Almighty and Exalted, to give us guidance 
as we strive to achieve all that is good for our beloved 
country, our stakeholders and our customers.

Thank you,

Sheikh Thani Bin Thamer Bin Mohamed Al - Thani 

Chairman of the Board

Chairman’s Message
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2016 to transpire the Company’s 14-branch expansion 
plan announced during the previous year. The plan was 
the result of strategic research and strategy to keep pace 
with Qatar’s urban planning and development, which 
has extended to new areas and others that have recently 
witnessed a population boom.

In March, Al Meera inked agreements to build six new 
shopping centres in Rawdat Aba El Heran, Azghawa, 
Leabaib, Umm Qarn, Al Khor and Sailiya, to be built on a 
land area of 10,805 m², 6,311 m², 17,390 m², 10,230 m², 
15,000 m² and 15,000 m² respectively.

In addition to that, Al Meera announced in October that 
it was in the final stages of preparations for five new 
stores that the Company plans to launch in succession for 
consumers in different regions across the country, thereby 
bringing progress to 11 out of the 14 shopping centre’s 
expansion plan.

The five community shopping centres – located in Bu Sidra, 
North Sailiya (Al Miarad), Al Wakra (East), Um Salal Ali, and 
Leaibab 2 – will add a total of 9,709 m² Supermarket Area to 
the Company’s presence in Qatar. Before the end of the year, 
Al Meera had successfully opened two of the five stores, 
starting with the Bu Sidra Branch in October, followed by 
the North Sailiya (Al Miarad) Branch in December.

On the heels of the Company’s recent land leases in Oman, 
Al Meera Markets (Al Meera Oman) spared no effort on 
its plan to grow its network to reach 10 community malls 
spread across the country’s various regions by 2022. The 
current expansion phase comes as part of the Company’s 
mission to provide consumers in every corner of the 
Sultanate with a great shopping experience that provides 
true value for money.

Al Meera Oman’s latest conquest in its expansion plan 
transpired in September 2016, with the opening of the 
Company’s new store in Al Muzn Mall, in Al Hail. The 
1,800 m² supermarket provides a comfortable and stylish 
contemporary shopping environment that caters to the 
everyday needs of consumers in the North Seeb Region.

With a total retail space of nearly 25,800 m² among 
its Community Malls, including the company’s three 
hypermarkets, a Supermarket in Al Falaj, and its new 
Supermarket in Al Muzn Mall, Al Meera has successfully 
turned its vision of becoming everyone’s ‘Favourite 
Neighbourhood Retailer’ into a tangible reality for 
consumers in Oman.

By the end of 2016, Al Meera boasted a network of 47 
branches with 42 in Qatar (endowed with a total retail 
space of nearly 68,000 m², including its Géant Hypermarket 
at Hyatt Plaza) and 5 in the Sultanate of Oman. 

BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS’ REPORT
In the Name of Allah, the Most Gracious, the 
Most Merciful
Dear Shareholders,
The Board of Directors of Al Meera Consumer Goods 
Company (Q.S.C.) is pleased to present its Eleventh Annual 
Report on the Company’s operations and financial position 
for the year ended 31 December 2016. 

This year, Al Meera, under the guidance of the Board of 
Directors, witnessed the crossing of several milestones, 
continued growth, and solid financial results, the fusion 
of which went on to push the industry’s frontiers and 
reap awards and recognitions from market experts and 
authority figures alike.

Building on a decade of excellence and trend-setting feats, 
the Company continued to play an instrumental role in 
supporting the national economy, while staying true to 
Qatar’s social and cultural values as well as the Company’s 
ambitious vision of always becoming consumers’  ‘Favourite 
Neighbourhood Retailer’.

During the year, Al Meera made tangible progress in its 
purposeful expansion plan, and brought the Retail Chain’s 
world-class shopping experience to consumers in more 
neighbourhoods and regions across Qatar for the benefit 
of citizens and residents, as well as the urban development 
of the country’s various territories, in line with the Qatar 
National Vision (QNV) 2030.

Renovation
To live up to its motto of being ‘Your Favourite 
Neighbourhood Retailer’, Al Meera renovated more of its 
established branches in 2016, to match the Company’s 
new identity and bring its shopping centres across the 
country to the same undeviating level of customer service, 
product display mechanisms, modern facilities, and one-
stop-shop convenience. 

Newly revamped branches included Rawdat Al Khail, 
Shamal, and Gharafat Al Rayyan. The 3 remodelled stores 
enriched the shopping experience of citizens and residents 
in some of Qatar’s busiest districts and booming territories. 

Expansion
Having celebrated its tenth anniversary with the opening 
of 9 new shopping centres - in addition to its leased 
branch in Gulf Mall in 2015, Al Meera made strides in 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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centre will be divided into three main sections; the first will 
be dedicated to the supermarket, the second to organic 
products and the third to a coffee shop for organic products, 
all featuring advanced lighting systems and the best forms 
of presentation and storage to help customers in the quick 
and easy selection of products.

The company has also negotiated with the “Doha Institute 
for Graduate Studies”, to operate a supermarket which is 
approximately 150 m² to serve the Institute’s students. 
Not to forget that negotiations are also being undertaken 
with the Qatar Armed forces and Ahmed Bin Mohammed 
Military College for the inauguration of a branch there.

Furthermore, the Company will continue to bring progress 
to its vision for the Omani market, with the aim of 
expanding its network of branches in the Sultanate within 
the upcoming years. Having achieved a successful year in 
2016, increasing its profit and bringing the EBITDA above 
the retail industry standards, Al Meera Markets in Oman has 
reached its maturity and is ready for the next steps of its 
expansion, building on its strong platform.

To that end, four pieces of land have been signed with the 
Ministry of Housing in different governorates across Oman, 
which will allow Al Meera to satisfy the needs of more 
consumers in the Sultanate. Priority will be given in 2017 to 
the development of Al Amirat in Muscat, where a mall will 
be built on 13,500 m² plot, and Al Suwaeeq with an area 
of 20,500 m²; bringing the concept and the standards of          
Al Meera to the local community. In addition, the Company 
shall evaluate the opportunities of developing malls in the 
near future on the other two lands in Sur and Salalah.

Future Plans
In 2017 and beyond, Al Meera will continue to work in 
close coordination with the Ministry of Municipality and 
Environment (MME) to keep pace with the future and 
further contribute to the development and urbanization 
of more districts and territories that are underserved 
or are witnessing population growth, starting with the 
completion of the Company’s 14-branch expansion plan. 
With the final touches put on three of the five announced 
branches, Al Meera’s shopping centres in Al Wakra (East), 
Um Salal Ali, and Leaibab 2 are expected to open their 
doors to consumers in the first Quarter of 2017. 

Al Meera’s expansion plans also include the opening of 
new branches that serves students at Qatar Foundation 
for Education, Science and Community Development, 
following the signing of contracts for the operation of a 
number of spaces at the Education City.

In addition to that, 2017 is set to witness the signing of a 
contract with Lusail Real Estate Development Company to 
operate and manage two community retail centres in Fox 
Hills and North Villas District as part of Al Meera’s strategy 
to cooperate with local companies as well as remain close 
to consumers wherever they might be. 

In the same context, Al Meera will continue the procedures 
to sign a partnership with Msheireb Properties to bring 
the country’s leading retail brand to Msheireb Downtown 
Doha (MDD). Located at the iconic project’s Galleria Mall, 
which forms a major part of its retail offering, Al Meera’s 
MDD Branch will bring to fruition years of experience in 
modern design and will be established in harmony with 
the nature of the place and its surroundings. The shopping 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Social responsibility
Since its inception in 2005, Al Meera has upheld an 
unwavering commitment to social and cultural values, and 
has made strides to make a real difference in the lives of 
community members in every corner of Qatar.

In 2016, Al Meera has spared no effort to live up to its role-
model status in the realm of good corporate citizenship, 
with a line-up of humanitarian, social and environmental 
initiatives that were successfully met with great acclaim 
and engagement from all segments of society.

To celebrate the honourable values of the Holy Month,      
Al Meera launched its 1437 H Ramadan special campaign, 
held under the slogan “your confidence inspires us to give, 
in the month of giving”, by offering 1437 consumer goods 
at cost price, with the aim of giving back to the community 
in which it operates.

Honouring the Company’s annual traditions, Al Meera also 
supported Ramadan projects and programs carried out by 
associations and charitable organizations in the country, 
along the lines of “Eid Charity”, “Qatar Charity”, and the 
“Qatar Red Crescent,” according to the resources available.

On an equally important front, the Company’s keenness 
on spreading the culture of sports among society’s various 
segments, led Al Meera to celebrate Qatar’s fifth National 
Sports Day with its staff and the participants in the “We Ride 
for Doha 2016” cycling parade at The Pearl-Qatar, inspiring 
the community to lead happy and healthy lives.

In parallel with such open handed initiatives at branches 
and sales operations, Al Meera supported strides aiming to 
help achieve food and health safety. In April, the Company 
signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with 
the Ministry of Public Health (MoPH) and Weill Cornell 
Medicine-Qatar (WCM-Q) to implement a public health 
awareness campaign, through the provision of a wide 
range of nutrition information to aid in selecting a healthy 
and balanced diet, via posters displayed in a number of       
Al Meera branches.

Moreover, Al Meera’s choice as the golden sponsor of the 
“Watani Qatar” book, which was directed by the United 
Media Center, was one of the Company’s most prominent 
achievements of the year. The “Watani Qatar” book 
embodied Qatar’s exemplary renaissance and the status 
of its welfare and development, thanks to the effort and 
the unlimited support of the wise leadership of the Emir            
His Highness Sheikh Tamim Bin Hamad Al Thani and the 
Father Emir His Highness Sheikh Hamad Bin Khalifa Al Thani.

By the end of the year, Al Meera concluded 2016 with their 
11th Anniversary celebration, capping another successful 
year in business. The Company celebrated their anniversary 
of being operational for eleven years with grand raffle 
draws, where 11 lucky winners walked away with grand 
prizes of QR 11,111 each, in addition to 590 more prizes for 
Al Meera shoppers. 

Awards and Accolades
Throughout its decade-long history, Al Meera’s steadfast 
evolution and steps have reflected in a range of 
achievements and accomplishments at the service of its 
customers and shareholders. 

Reflecting the success of its growth strategy and sustained 
profitability, the year 2016 saw Al Meera’s recognition as 
one of five Qatari firms in Marmore Mena Intelligence’s ‘30 
most valuable non-banking companies in the GCC’ list. Out 
of the 30 GCC companies that made it to the list, Al Meera 
recorded the second highest annualized 5-year returns (5 
year CAGR) at 43%.

The Company’s fruitful community development efforts 
and initiatives also culminated in winning the 2016 Qatar 
Social Responsibility Award for the Large Enterprises 
category.

Having been awarded with the ISO Certification for its 
Commercial Department in 2015, Al Meera is currently in the 
process of improving all of its supply chain standards and 
procedures, towards achieving another ISO Certification in 
the Supply Chain category by the end of 2017.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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REVIEW OF 
PERFORMANCE
Operations highlights
•	 Opened two new community shopping centres in Bu 

Sidra and North Sailiya (Al Miarad) 

•	 Reached the final stages of preparations for three more 
stores located in Umm Salal Ali, Al Wakra (East) and 
Leaibab 2, expected to launch during the 1st Quarter 
of 2017

•	 Signed agreements to build six new stores across 
various regions in Qatar

•	 Signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with 
Qatar Development Bank, with the aim of strengthening 
business cooperation and the exchange of expertise in 
the field of entrepreneurship, and provide support and 
funding for SME’s

•	 Actively participated in the joint initiative between 
both the Ministry of Municipality and Environment and 
the Ministry of Economy and Commerce, to support 
and promote local farmers and offer consumers top 
quality fresh produce at affordable prices

•	 Negotiated with Msheireb Real Estate Company, a 
subsidiary of the Qatar Foundation for Education, 
Science and Community Development, for the 
opening of a branch in Msheireb at the heart of Doha; 
a multi-functional project, which was designed to 
revive and revitalize the urban centre of Doha

•	 Signed a contract with Qatar Foundation for Education, 
Science and Community Development to secure three 
locations to be operated and utilized by Al Meera 
amounting to a total area of 301 m²

•	 Launched an exceptional Ramadan offer of “1437 
items at cost price”, in honour of the Islamic Year 1437 
H, as part of the company’s ongoing commitment 
to provide the best services to customers and the 
promotion of social values in the country. The Al Meera 
Ramadan offer was labelled with the slogan “your 

confidence inspires us to give, in the month of giving”, 
with Ramadan of 1437 H at Al Meera offering 1437 
consumer goods at cost price

•	 Celebrated Al Meera’s eleventh anniversary with grand 
raffle draws, where 11 lucky winners won 11,111 Qatari 
riyals, in addition to 590 more prizes for Al Meera 
shoppers

•	 Concluded of a number of government contracts for 
land use in several areas in the Sultanate of Oman 
with the Ministry of Housing, which provides the 
opportunity to build new branches for Al Meera

•	 Won the 2016 Qatar Social Responsibility Award for the 
Large Enterprises category

•	 Named as one of five Qatari firms in Marmore 
Mena Intelligence’s ‘30 most valuable non-banking 
companies in the GCC’ list

Financial highlights
•	 In 2016, The Board of Directors decided to go for early 

adoption of IFRS 9, an International Financial Reporting 
Standard which will replace IAS 39 and become 
compulsory effective 1 January 2018. IFRS 9 introduces 
an option to value equity investments and certain debt 
instruments at fair value through other comprehensive 
income and not through the statement of profit or 
loss. The main purpose for this new standard (IFRS 9) 
is to significantly lower volatility in the profits due to 
equity market fluctuations. The adoption of IFRS 9 will 
enable the Group to present better, its profits from 
core businesses (retail and leasing) in the statement of 
profit or loss

•	 Group sales increased 6.3% (QAR 155.3 million), from 
QAR 2,449.1 million to QAR 2,604.4 million

•	 Group gross profit increased 3.4% (QAR 14.5 million), 
from QAR 427.2 million to QAR 441.7 million

•	 Group gross shops rental income increased 37.6% (QAR 
19.0 million), from QAR 50.3 million to QAR 69.3 million

•	 Group operating income increased 6.6%, to QAR 531.6 
million, compared to QAR 498.6 million in 2015

•	 Group net profit attributable to equity holders of the 
parent increased 22.9% to QAR 199.2 million

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT | Business Review
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Operations
Throughout the year, the Company bore witness to the 
successful opening of two new community shopping 
centres in Bu Sidra and North Sailiya (Al Miarad). Al Meera 
has also reached the final stages of preparation for three 
more stores located in Um Salal Ali, Al Wakra (East) and 
Leaibab 2, expected to launch in early 2017.

There are six new stores that are currently under 
construction, with an expected launch taking place during 
early 2018. In addition to that, 2017 is set to witness the 
signing of a contract with Lusail Real Estate Development 
Company, to operate and manage two community retail 
centres in Fox Hills and North Villas District as part of              
Al Meera’s strategy to cooperate with local companies as 
well as remain close to consumers wherever they might be. 

In the same context, the New Year will mark Al Meera’s 
partnership with Msheireb Properties to bring the country’s 
leading retail brand to Msheireb Downtown Doha (MDD). 
Located at the iconic project’s Galleria Mall, which forms a 
major part of its retail offering. Al Meera’s MDD Branch will 
bring to fruition years of experience in modern design and 
will be established in harmony with the nature of the place 
and its surroundings. 

Al Meera’s expansion plans also include the opening of 
new branches that will serve students at Qatar Foundation 
for Education, Science and Community Development, 
following the signing of contracts for the operation of a 
number of spaces at Education City.

The Company has also negotiated with the “Doha Institute 
for Graduate Studies”, to operate a supermarket, which is 
approximately 150 m², to serve the Institute’s students. Also 
making note that negotiations are also being undertaken 
with the Qatar Armed forces and Ahmed Bin Mohammed 
Military College for the inauguration of a branch there.

In line with the Company’s goal to enrich their customers’ 
shopping experience, Al Meera renovated three of their 
branches during 2016 which include the Rawdat Al Khail, 
Gharafat Al Rayyan and Al Shamal stores.

Al Meera currently boasts a network of 47 branches with 42 
in Qatar, (endowed with a total retail space of nearly 68,000 
m², including its Géant Hypermarket at Hyatt Plaza), and 
5 in the Sultanate of Oman, strengthening their vision of 
becoming everyone’s ‘Favourite Neighbourhood Retailer’.

Commercial
In 2016, the commercial department of Al Meera Consumer 
Goods Company accomplished several missions that 
served the Qatari Community, ensured their customers’ 
satisfaction, increased the Company’s profitability and 
maintained its high standards.

In the course of diversifying the country’s national economy 
and supporting local startups, the Company continued to 
work closely with Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) 
in order to allow startups to grow with Al Meera while 
enriching consumers’ choices. 

Considering this framework, Al Meera recently signed a first-
of-its-kind MoU with QDB, through which the Company is 
poised to play a pivotal role in promoting Qatari products 
by providing entrepreneurs with an established platform 
to market their products and facilitate the integration of 
incubated SMEs into its value chain. 

By supporting entrepreneurship and nurturing Qatari 
startups in the grocery and consumer goods niche, Al Meera 
and QDB are effectively contributing to the realization of 
the objectives of the Qatar National Vision 2030, as well as 
acting as role models for large enterprises in Qatar.

By the same token, Al Meera offered Qatari productive 
families with the opportunity to market their products 
by giving them space and support to display their 
merchandise. Currently, 7 productive families have more 
than 48 products displayed in Al Meera’s outlets. 

The Commercial Department of the company worked 
closely with Qatari farmers and local partners, in cooperation 
with the Ministry of Municipality and Environment and 
the Ministry of Economy and Commerce, to enhance 
its assortment of products and bring a richer variety of 
premium vegetables and consumer goods that are socially 
responsible, while providing consumers with true value for 
money. This was made possible through the allocation of 
space and appropriate signage accross Al Meera’s Branches, 
and displaying the products at a very affordable price.

To improve Al Meera’s sourcing locally and internationally, 
the Commercial Department successfully extended the 
number of suppliers from 347 to 354, and the Company’s 
product range by 3,845, which were appropriately classified 
and displayed at the right outlets based on the customer 
profile of each.

Meanwhile, consumers’ growing affinity to products 
that carry the Al Meera brand warranted the company’s 
Commercial Department to focus on increasing the range 
of private label that highlight the brand and boost the 
Company’s profitability. In 2017, Al Meera will work further 
to develop more ‘Private Label’ products that increase the 
contribution of both the sales volume and value as well 
as working directly with manufacturers to improve our 
margin by finding the right source from the right country.

Going forward, Al Meera will continue to strive and pour 
all efforts to mark even more accomplishments across its 
journey.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT | Business Review
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Financial Results
Sales and gross profit
Sales for the year totaled QAR 2,604.4 million, an increase of 
6.3% (QAR 155.3 million), compared to QAR 2,449.1 million 
in 2015. The two stores opened in 2016 (Bu Sidra during 
October and North Sailiya (Al Miarad) during December) 
together contributed QAR 7.5 million to the total sales. 

Gross profit increased by QAR 14.5 million (3.4%), to QAR 
441.7 million in 2016, from QAR 427.2 million in 2015. 

Operating income
Operating income increased 6.6%, from QAR 498.6 million 
to QAR 531.6 million. 

Shop rental income from leased shops in Company’s malls 
increased substantially by 37.6%, to QAR 69.3 million in 
2016, from QAR 50.3 million in 2015.

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent
In spite of a challenging year, the Group ended the year 
2016 with net profit attributable to equity holders of the 
parent of QAR 199.2 million, an increase of 22.9% over that 
reported for year 2015.  

Earnings per share
Earnings per share attributable equity holders of the parent 
in 2016 equated to QAR 9.96 per share, compared to QAR 
8.10 in 2015.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT | Business Review

Al Meera’s Group Legal Structure

Dividends for shareholders – 2016
On 20 February 2017, the Board of Directors proposed cash 
dividend of QR 9 per share amounting to QAR 180 million 
for the shareholders which is subject for approval of the 
Annual General Assembly. 

Total assets
Total assets increased by 11.4% (QAR 224.5 million), from 
QAR 1,966.4 million in 2015 to QAR 2,190.9 million as at      
31 December 2016. 

Total equity
Total equity increased by 1.2% (QAR 17.4 million) from 
QAR 1,425.2 million in 2015 to QAR 1,442.6 million as at                      
31 December  2016.

Bank debt
Bank borrowings – current and non-current as at 31 
December 2016, totaled QAR 133.8 million. This relates to a 
loan taken from Qatar Development Bank (QDB) to partially 
fund the acquisition and store renovations in Oman. 

Dividend income
Dividend income for 2016 was up 5.6%, from QAR 9.3 
million in 2015, to QAR 9.8 million.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 DECEMBER 2016
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ 
REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS 
OF AL MEERA CONSUMER 
GOODS COMPANY Q.S.C.

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial 
Statements 

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements 
of Al Meera Consumer Goods Company Q.S.C. (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively “the Group”), 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2016, and the consolidated 
statement of  profit or loss, consolidated statement of 
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 
December 2016, and its consolidated financial performance 
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent 
of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements in the State of Qatar, 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current year. 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and 
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, 

our description of how our audit addressed the matter is 
provided in that context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated 
financial Statements section of our report, including in 
relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included 
the performance of procedures designed to respond to 
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the consolidated financial statements. The results of our 
audit procedures, including the procedures performed 
to address the matters below, provide the basis for our 
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements.

We identified the following key audit matters:

Goodwill impairment assessment

As described in Note 7 to the consolidated financial 
statements the goodwill balance as of the reporting date is 
QR 344,097,998, which represents around 16% of the total 
assets of the Group. 

The management uses the value in use assessment 
to support the carrying value of the goodwill and the 
resulting impairment, if any. This assessment involves 
the application of subjective judgement about future 
business performance. Therefore, the assumptions made 
by management in the impairment review have been 
considered by the audit team to be the key areas of 
judgement, notably the cash flow forecasts, overall growth 
rates, inflation rates, terminal value and the discount rates 
applied. Therefore, this has been considered as a key audit 
matter.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter 
We evaluated management’s future cash flow forecasts and 
the process by which they were determined and approved, 
including ensuring that forecasts were consistent with the 
latest Board approved budgets and the mathematical 
accuracy of the underlying calculations were accurate. We 
also considered the accuracy of previous forecasts made 
by management.  

We obtained and evaluated the corroborating evidence 
regarding the carrying value of goodwill, and the related 
disclosures, such as key assumptions for growth rates in the 
cash flow forecasts by comparing them to historical results, 
economic forecasts and the discount rates by independently 
estimating a range based on market data. We performed 
sensitivity analysis around these assumptions to ascertain 
the extent of change that individually would be required 
for the goodwill to be impaired. We involved our internal 
specialists for this purpose. 
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Other Matter
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the 
year ended 31 December 2015 were audited by another 
auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those 
statements on 21 February 2016. 

Other Information included in the Group’s 2016 Annual 
Report
Other information consists of the information included 
in Annual Report other than the consolidated financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Board 
of Directors is responsible for the other information. The 
Group’s 2016 Annual Report is expected to be made 
available to us after the date of this auditor’s report. Our 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not 
cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

Responsibilities of Management and Board of Directors 
for the Consolidated Financial Statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the 
Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management 
either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, 
or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those Board of Directors are responsible for overseeing the 
Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 

but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control. 

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Group’s internal control. 

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management. 

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether 
a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 
the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the 
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 

We communicate with Board of Directors regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. 

We also provide Board of Directors with a statement that 
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with Board of Directors, 
we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the 
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law 
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter 
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine 
that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Furthermore, in our opinion, proper books of account have 
been kept by the Company, an inventory count has been 
conducted in accordance with established principles, and 
the financial statements comply with the Qatar Commercial 
Companies’ Law No. 11 of 2015 and the Company’s Articles 
of Association. We have obtained all the information and 
explanations we required for the purpose of our audit, and 
are not aware of any violations of the above mentioned law 
or the Articles of Association having occurred during the 
year, which might have had a material adverse effect on 
the Group’s financial position or performance.

Ziad Nader
of Ernst & Young
Auditor’s Registration No. 258

Date: 20 February 2017	
Doha
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 31 December 2016

The attached notes 1 to 31 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS	
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Notes 2016 2015
QR QR

Continuing operations
Sales 2,604,445,088 2,449,080,123
Cost of sales )2,162,708,043( )2,021,922,739(

Gross profit 441,737,045 427,157,384

Shops rental income 69,255,385 50,333,872
Other income 3 20,593,343 21,088,129
General and administrative expenses 4 )278,163,392( )252,786,100(
Depreciation and amortisation 6 & 8 )48,150,302( )35,651,184(
Impairment losses on investment securities 9 - )47,550,889(
Share of loss of an associate 10 )1,478,239( )692,902(
Finance costs )3,581,182( )2,863,370(

Profit before tax from continuing operations 200,212,658 159,034,940
Income tax expense 5 )335,274( )122,492(

Profit for the year from continuing operations 199,877,384 158,912,448

Discontinued operations
Profit after tax for the year from discontinued operations 16 - 3,430,004

Profit for the year 199,877,384 162,342,452

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 199,155,622 162,094,323
Non-controlling interests 27 721,762 248,129

199,877,384 162,342,452

Earnings per share
 Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to equity holders
of the parent from continuing and discontinued operations 25 9.96 8.10

 Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to equity holders
of the parent from continuing operations 25 9.96 7.93
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The attached notes 1 to 31 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME	
For the year ended 31 December 2016

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME	
For the year ended 31 December 2016

 2016 2015
QR QR

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 199,877,384 162,342,452

Other comprehensive income  not to be reclassified to profit 
or loss in subsequent periods

Investment securities:
 Net change in the fair value 1,643,265 -

Other comprehensive income  to be reclassified to profit or 
loss in subsequent periods

Available-for-sale investments:
 Impairment losses - 47,550,889
 Net gain on disposal - (1,540,390)
Net loss arising during the year on revaluation - (44,035,128)

Net other comprehensive income to be reclassified to 
profit or loss in subsequent periods - 1,975,371

Total other comprehensive income   1,643,265 1,975,371

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 201,520,649 164,317,823

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 200,798,887 164,069,694
Non-controlling interests            721,762 248,129

201,520,649 164,317,823
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2016

Notes 2016 2015
QR QR

ASSETS 
Non-current assets
Property and equipment 6 920,678,425 691,190,809
Goodwill 7 344,097,998 344,097,998
Other intangible assets 8 7,288,654 8,730,961
Investment securities 9 159,926,871 210,262,821
Investment in associates 10 98,497 98,497
Deferred tax assets 5 - 298,937

Total non-current assets 1,432,090,445 1,254,680,023 

Current assets 
Inventories 11 184,862,105 183,419,260
Accounts receivable and prepayments 12 64,898,722 51,084,395
Amounts due from related parties 20 8,477,240 5,660,379
Bank balances and cash 13 500,553,676 471,522,458

Total current assets 758,791,743 711,686,492

TOTAL ASSETS 2,190,882,188 1,966,366,515

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Equity
Share capital 14 200,000,000 200,000,000
Legal reserve 15 901,289,603 901,289,603
Optional reserve 15 21,750,835 21,750,835
Other reserves 15 (7,120,717) (11,943,444)
Retained earnings 285,829,206 273,927,930

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 1,401,748,927 1,385,024,924
Non-controlling interests 27 40,890,851 40,169,089

Total equity 1,442,639,778 1,425,194,013

Non-current liabilities 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 17 121,546,529 84,963,255
Employees’ end of service benefits 18 28,843,897 25,799,696

Total non-current liabilities 150,390,426 110,762,951

Current liabilities 
Accounts payable and accruals 19 585,505,538 426,844,718
Deferred tax liability 5 36,337 -
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 17 12,310,109 3,564,833

Total current liabilities 597,851,984 430,409,551

Total liabilities 748,242,410 541,172,502

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2,190,882,188 1,966,366,515

....................................................................................			   ........................................................................
H.E. Shiekh Thani Bin Thamer Bin Mohamed Al  Thani				    Dr. Saif Saeed Al-Sowaidi

Chairman	                  		  Vice Chairman 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2016

The attached notes 1 to 31 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2016

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Notes 2016 2015
OPERATING ACTIVITIES QR QR

Profit before tax 200,212,658 162,464,944
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 6&8 48,150,302 35,748,867
Interest income 3 (8,410,371) (6,459,861)
Gain on sale of investment securities 3 - (1,051,844)
Allowance made for credit loss provision 28 178,048 325,760
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 18 5,745,073 4,564,955
Impairment losses on investment securities 9 - 47,550,889
Provision for obsolete and slow moving inventories 11 2,787,305 742,722
Share in loss of  an associate 10 1,478,239 692,902
Gain on sale of investment in subsidiary 16 - (4,641,573)
Gain on disposal of property and equipment 15,912 (884,412)
Dividend income 3 (9,800,370) (9,276,948)
Finance costs 3,581,182 2,863,370

Operating profit before changes in working capital 243,937,978 232,639,771
Working capital changes:

Inventories (4,230,150) (12,753,916)
Accounts receivable and prepayments (13,274,410) (12,360,892)
Amounts due from related parties (2,816,861) (1,192,235)
Accounts payable and accruals 138,503,504 (21,006,463)

Cash flows from operating activities 362,120,061 185,326,265
Employees’ end of service benefits paid 18 (2,700,872) (1,989,107)
Payment of contribution to social and sports fund (3,820,434) (5,465,891)

Net cash flows from operating activities 355,598,755 177,871,267

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net proceeds on disposal of interest in a subsidiary 16 - 2,878,353
Purchase of investment securities (58,505,662) (195,494,585)
Proceeds from sale of investment securities 111,161,918 151,012,391
Purchase of property and equipment 6 (276,219,852) (138,348,380)
Purchase of intangible assets 8 (91,148) -
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 99,477 980,907
Net movement in deposits maturing after 90 days (24,616,000) 295,316,000
Dividends received 3 9,800,370 9,276,948
Interest received 8,410,371 9,243,339

Net cash flows (used in) from investing activities (229,960,526) 134,864,973

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid (162,252,413) (167,254,608)
Net movement in interest bearing loans and borrowings 45,328,549 -

Interest paid (3,581,182) (2,615,205)

Net cash used in financing activities (120,505,046) (169,869,813)

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 5,133,183 142,866,427

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 338,522,458 195,656,031

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 13 343,655,641 338,522,458

The attached notes 1 to 31 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2016

1	 CORPORATE INFORMATION & PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

On 13 July 2004, the Law No. (24) for 2004 was issued 
in order to transfer the former Consumers Cooperative 
Societies to Qatari Shareholding Company with a capital 
of QR 100,000,000, thus, incorporating a new company Al 
Meera Consumer Goods Company Q.S.C. (the “Company”) 
which is governed by the Qatar Commercial Companies 
Law No. 11 of 2015. The Company was registered under 
commercial registration number 29969 on 2 March 2005. 
The Company’s registered office address is at P.O. Box 3371 
Doha, State of Qatar.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) 
are mainly involved in wholesale and retail trading of 
various types of consumer goods commodities, owning 
and managing consumer outlets and trading in food stuff 
and consumer goods.

The Company is listed on the Qatar Exchange. During 
the year, an extra ordinary general meeting held on 5 
October 2016, the shareholders have resolved to transfer 
26% ownership of the Company, which was held by the 
Government of Qatar to Qatar Holding L.L.C. 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group 
were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20 
February 2017.

2	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY OF   		
	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under 
the historical cost convention except for investment 
securities that have been measured at fair value. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
Qatari Riyals (“QR”), which is the Group’s functional and 
presentation currency.
  
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) issued by International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) and applicable requirements of 
Qatar Commercial Companies’ Law No. 11 of 2015.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates and judgements. It also requires management 
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the 
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher 
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to consolidated 
financial statements are disclosed in Note 30. 

2.2 Basis of consolidation

Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls 
an investee if and only if the Group has:

• 	 Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it 
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the 	
investee)

• 	 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee, and

• 	 The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its 
returns

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or 
similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant 
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power 
over an investee, including:

• 	 The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders 
of the investee

• 	 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements
• 	 The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee 
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to 
one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation 
of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over 
the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control 
of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses 
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are 
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
consolidated statement of other comprehensive income 
from the date the Group gains control until the date the 
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive 
income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the 
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2016



30 | Al Meera Consumer Goods Co. (QSC)

even if this results in the non-controlling interests having 
a deficit balance. These consolidated financial statements 
are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like 
transactions and other events in similar circumstances. 
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial 
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All 
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses 
and cash flows relating to transactions between members 
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without 
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If 
the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

•	 Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and 	 	
		 liabilities of the subsidiary
•	 Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-	 	
		 controlling interests
•	 Derecognises the cumulative translation differences 	
		 recorded in equity
•	 Recognises the fair value of the consideration 	 	
		 received
•	 Recognises the fair value of any investment retained
•	 Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss

Name of subsidiaries Country of 
incorporation Relationship Group effective 

shareholding percentage

2016 2015
Al Meera Holding Company L.L.C. Qatar Subsidiary 100% 100%
Al Meera Supermarkets Company S.P.C. Qatar Subsidiary 100% 100%
Al Meera Development Company L.L.C. Qatar Subsidiary 100% 100%
Qatar Markets Company W.L.L. Qatar Subsidiary 100% 100%
Alge Retail Corporation Sarl Switzerland Subsidiary 51% 51%
Al Meera Oman S.A.O.C Oman Subsidiary 70% 70%
Al Meera Markets S.A.O.C Oman Subsidiary 70% 70%
Al Meera Bookstore S.P.C Qatar Subsidiary 100% 100%
Al Oumara Bakeries Company W.L.L. Qatar Associate 51% 51%
Aramex Logistics Services Company L.L.C. Qatar Associate 51% 51%

•	 Reclassifies the parent’s share of components 	 	
		 previously recognised in OCI to profit or loss or 		
		 retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be 		
		 required if the Group had directly disposed of the 		
		 related assets or liabilities

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating 
unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed 
of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation 
is included in the carrying amount of the operation 
when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill 
disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the 
relative values of the disposed operation and the portion 
of the cash-generating unit retained.

Non-controlling interest in the net assets of consolidated 
subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s 
equity there in. Non-controlling interest consists of the 
amount of those interest at the date of the original business 
combination and the non-controlling interest share of 
changes in equity since the date of the combination. Losses 
applicable to the non-controlling interest have a blindly 
obligation and are able to make an additional investment 
to cover the losses.

The principal subsidiaries and associates of the Group, 
included in the consolidated financial statements of Al 
Meera Consumer Goods Company Q.S.C. are as follows:

Al Meera Holding Company L.L.C. (“Al Meera Holding”) 
is a limited liability company, incorporated in the State of 
Qatar. The Company is a holding company for holding the 
Group’s investments and managing its subsidiaries, owning 
patents, trademarks and real estate needed to carry out its 
activities.

Al Meera Supermarkets Company S.P.C. (“Al Meera 
Supermarkets”) is a single person company incorporated 
in the State of Qatar. The Company is engaged in the 

establishment and management of business enterprise 
and investing therein, owning share, moveable and 
immovable properties necessary to carry out its activities.

Al Meera Development Company L.L.C. (“Al Meera 
Development”) is a limited liability company, incorporated 
in the State of Qatar. The Company is engaged in 
establishment and management of business enterprise 
and investing therein, owning patents, trade-works and 
real estate needed to carry out its activities.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Qatar Markets Company W.L.L. (“Qatar Markets”) is a 
limited liability company, incorporated in the state of 
Qatar. The Company is engaged in the sale of food stuff, 
household items and garments.

Al Oumara Bakeries Company W.L.L. (“Al Oumara 
Bakeries”) is a limited liability company, incorporated in the 
State of Qatar. The Company is engaged in manufacture 
and sale of bakery products.

Alge Retail Corporation Sarl (“Alge Corporation”) is a 
limited liability company incorporated in Switzerland. The 
Company is engaged in development of retail business in 
Tunisia, Libya, Egypt and Jordan. As at the reporting date, 
this company has not commenced its operations.

Al Meera Oman S.A.O.C. (“Al Meera Oman”) is a limited 
liability company incorporated in Sultanate of Oman. The 
Company is engaged in the construction and management 
of shopping centers and related facilities. As at the reporting 
date, this company has not commenced its operations. 

Al Meera Markets S.A.O.C. (“Al Meera Market”) is a limited 
liability company incorporated in Sultanate of Oman. The 
Company is engaged in the establishment and operation 
of shopping centers, supermarkets, and hypermarkets. 

Al Meera Bookstore S.P.C. (“Al Meera Bookstore”) is a single 
person company incorporated in the State of Qatar. The 
Company is engaged in the sale of stationery, computer 
accessories, books and toys.

Aramex Logistics Services Company L.L.C. is a limited 
liability company incorporated in State of Qatar. The 
Company is engaged in the warehousing and delivery 
truck services. As at the reporting date, this company has 
not commenced its operations.

2.3 New and amended standards and interpretations 
adopted by the Group 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements are consistent with 
those followed in the preparation of the Group’s annual 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015, 
except for: 

a) Early adopted IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
The Group has early adopted IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
issued in July 2014 with a date of initial application of 1 
January 2016. The requirements of IFRS 9 represent a 
significant change from IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement. The new standard brings 
fundamental changes to the accounting for financial 
assets and to certain aspects of the accounting for financial 
liabilities. The impacts of the change in accounting policy 
have been disclosed in Note 31.

b) Adoption of other new standards and interpretations 
effective as of 1 January 2016

Titles

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

Amendments to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements: Accounting for Acquisition of Interests

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41: Agriculture: Bearer Plants

Amendments to IAS 1: Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception

Annual Improvements 2012 – 2014 Cycle

Amendments to IAS 27: equity method in separate financial statements.

Although these new standards and amendments were applied for the first time in 2016, they did not have material impact to the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

2.4 Standards issued but not yet effective

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not 
yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Group’s 

consolidated financial statements are disclosed below. 
The Group intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, 
when they become effective.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Titles Effective dates

Disclosure initiative (Amendment to IAS 7) 1 January 2017

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses (Amendments to IAS 12) 1 January 2017

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018

IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019

Classification and measurement of share – based payment transactions 

(Amendments to IFRS 2) 1 January 2018

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: sale or contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate 
or Joint venture Deferred

The Group is assessing the impact of implementation of these standards.

2.5 Significant accounting policies

Revenue recognition 
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable for the sale of goods and services 
in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue 
is shown net of returns, rebates and discounts. The Group 
recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can 
be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic 
benefits will flow to the entity and when specific criteria 
have been met for each of the Group’s activities as 
described below:

Sale of goods - retail
The Group operates a chain of retail outlets. Sales of goods 
are recognised when the Group sells a product to the 
customer. Retail sales are usually in cash or by credit card.

Shop rental income
Rental income is recognised in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease.

Dividend and interest income
Dividend income from investments is recognised when 
the Group’s right to receive payment has been established. 
Interest income is accrued on a time basis with reference 
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest 
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimates future cash receipts through the expected life of 
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on 
initial recognition.
 
Property and equipment
Property and equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment in value. Land 
and capital work-in -progress is not depreciated.

Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the 
straight-line method to allocate their cost or revalued 
amounts to their residual values over their estimated useful 
lives, as follows;

The carrying values of property and equipment are 
reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be 
recoverable.  If any such indication exists and where the 
carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, 
the assets are written down to their recoverable amount, 
being the higher of their fair value less costs to sell and 
their value in use.

Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of 
property and equipment that is accounted for separately is 
capitalised and the carrying amount of the component that 
is replaced is written off.  Other subsequent expenditure is 
capitalised only when it increases future economic benefits 
of the related item of property and equipment. All other 
expenditure is recognised in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss as incurred.

An item of property and equipment is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising 
on derecognition of the asset calculated as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the asset is included in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised.

Buildings 2.5%

Refrigerators and equipment 10%

Motor vehicles 20%

Furniture and fixtures  20%

Computer equipment 20% - 33%

Leasehold improvements 10% - 33%

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The asset’s residual values, useful life and method of 
depreciation are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at 
each financial year end.

Lands donated by Government are recorded at nominal 
amounts estimated by the management.

Capital work-in-progress
The costs of capital work-in-progress consist of the contract 
value, and directly attributable costs of developing and 
bringing the assets to the location and condition necessary 
for them to be capable of operating in the manner intended 
by management. The costs of capital work-in-progress will 
be transferred to property and equipment when these 
assets reach their working condition for their intended use. 
The carrying values of capital work-in-progress are reviewed 
for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If 
any such indication exists and where the carrying values 
exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are 
written down to their recoverable amount.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on 
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets 
acquired in a business combination is at fair value as at the 
date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible 
assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation 
and any accumulated impairment losses. 

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either 
finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the 
useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever 
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be 
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation 
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are 
reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. 
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern 
of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in 
the asset are considered to modify the amortisation period 
or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in 
accounting estimates. 

The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite 
lives is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss as the expense category that is consistent with the 
function of the intangible assets.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not 
amortised, but are tested for impairment annually, 
either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. 

The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually 
to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be 
supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite 
to finite is made on a prospective basis.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible 
asset are measured as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset 
and are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Investment in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has 
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions 
of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those 
policies. 

The Group’s investments in its associates are accounted 
for using the equity method. Under the equity method, 
investment in associates are carried in the consolidated 
statement of financial position at cost plus post-acquisition 
changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate. 
Losses in excess of the cost of the investment in associates 
are recognised when the Group has incurred obligations 
on its behalf. Goodwill relating to associates are included 
in the carrying amounts of the investment and are not 
amortised.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss reflects the 
Group’s share of the results of operations of the associates. 
Where there has been a change recognised directly in the 
equity of the associates, the Group recognises its share of 
any changes and discloses this, when applicable, in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Gains and 
losses resulting from transactions between the Group and 
the associates are eliminated to the extent of the interest 
in the associate. Unrealised gains and losses resulting 
from transactions between the Group and the associate is 
eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate. 

The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an 
associate is shown on the face of the income statement 
outside operating profit and represents profit or loss after 
tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the 
associate. 

The financial statements of the associate are prepared for 
the same reporting period as the Group. When necessary, 
adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in 
line with those of the Group.
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After application of the equity method, the Group 
determines whether it is necessary to recognise an 
impairment loss on its investment in its associate. At each 
reporting date, the Group determines whether there is an 
objective evidence that the investment in the associate is 
impaired.

If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount 
of impairment as the difference between the recoverable 
amount of the associate and its carrying value, then 
recognises the loss in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the 
Group measures and recognises any retained investment at 
its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount 
of the associate upon loss of significant influence or joint 
control and the fair value of the retained investment and 
proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

Investments and other financial assets

(i) Classification

From 1 January 2016, the Group classifies its financial assets 
in the following measurement categories:
• 		  those to be measured subsequently at fair value 		
		  (either through other comprehensive income, or 		
		  through profit or loss), and
• 	  	 those to be measured at amortised cost

The classification depends on the entity’s business model 
for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms 
of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will 
either be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive 
income. For investments in debt instruments, this will 
depend on the business model in which the investment is 
held. For investments in equity instruments, this will depend 
on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election 
at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity 
investment at fair value through other comprehensive 
income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only 
when its business model for managing those assets 
changes.

(ii) Measurement
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset 
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at 

fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. 
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value 
through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered 
in their entirety when determining whether their cash 
flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends 
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset and 
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three 
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its 
debt instruments:

• 	 Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of 
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent 
solely payments of principal and interest are measured 
at amortised cost. A gain or loss on a debt investment 
that is subsequently measured at amortised cost and is 
not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit 
or loss when the asset is derecognised or impaired. 
Interest income from these financial assets is included in 
other income using the effective interest rate method.

•	 Fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVOCI): Assets that are held for collection of contractual 
cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the 
assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal 
and interest, are measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI). Movements in the 
carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for 
the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest 
revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses which 
are recognised in profit and loss. When the financial 
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity 
to profit or loss and recognised in other gains/(losses). 
Interest income from these financial assets is included in 
other income using the effective interest rate method.

•	 Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet 
the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured 
at fair value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a 
debt investment that is subsequently measured at fair 
value through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging 
relationship is recognised in profit or loss and presented 
net in the profit or loss statement within other gains/
(losses) in the period in which it arises. Interest income 
from these financial assets is included in the interest 
income. 
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Equity instruments
The Group subsequently measures all equity investments 
at fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected 
to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments 
in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent 
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or 
loss. Dividends from such investments continue to be 
recognised in profit or loss as other income when the 
Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss are recognised in other gain/
(losses) in the statement of profit or loss as applicable. 
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on 
equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported 
separately from other changes in fair value.

(iii) Impairment	
The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected 
credit losses associated with its assets carried at amortised 
cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied 
depends on whether there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk. Note 27 details how the Group determines 
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade accounts receivable except for receivables from 
government institution, the Group applies the simplified 
approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected 
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of 
the receivables.

Accounting policies applied prior to 1 January 2016

Investment securities
Available-for-sale investments:
Available-for-sale financial investments include equity 
investments and debt securities. Available-for-sale 
investments are either designated in this category or 
not classified in any other categories. Debt securities 
in this category are those that are intended to be held 
for an indefinite period of time and that may be sold in 
response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes 
in the market conditions. Available-for-sale investments are 
recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs.

After initial measurement, available-for-sale financial 
investments are subsequently measured at fair value 
with unrealised gains or losses recognised as other 
comprehensive income in the fair value reserve until the 
investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative 
gain or loss is recognised in investment income, or 
when the investment is determined to be impaired, the 
cumulative loss is reclassified from the fair value reserve to 

the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Interest earned 
whilst holding available-for-sale financial investments is 
reported as interest income using the Effective Interest 
Rate (EIR) method.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to 
sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term is 
still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group 
is unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive 
markets and management’s intention to do so significantly 
changes in the foreseeable future, the Group may elect to 
reclassify these financial assets. Reclassification to loans and 
receivables is permitted when the financial assets meet the 
definition of loans and receivables and the Group has the 
intent and ability to hold these assets for the foreseeable 
future or until maturity. 

Reclassification to the held-to-maturity category is 
permitted only when the entity has the ability and intention 
to hold the financial asset accordingly.

For financial assets reclassified from the available-for-sale 
category, the related fair value carrying amount at the date 
of reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any 
previous gain or loss on the asset that has been recognised 
in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining 
life of the investment using the EIR. Any difference between 
the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is also 
amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the 
EIR. If the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired, 
then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified 
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans 
and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, available-
for-sale financial assets, or as derivatives designated as 
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. 
The Group determines the classification of its financial 
assets at initial recognition.

All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, 
in the case of investments not at fair value through profit 
or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. Purchases or 
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within 
a time frame established by regulation or convention in 
the marketplace (regular way trades) are recognised on 
the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group commits to 
purchase or sell the asset.
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Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified 
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 
loans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as 
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. 
The Group determines the classification of its financial 
liabilities at initial recognition.

Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in 
the case of loans and borrowings, plus directly attributable 
transaction costs.

IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 for 
the classification of financial liabilities.

Subsequent measurement
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
includes financial liabilities held for trading and financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value 
through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they 
are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. This 
category includes derivative financial instruments entered 
into by the Group that do not meet the hedge accounting 
criteria as defined by IAS 39.

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The Group has not designated any financial liabilities as at 
fair value through profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 

a)  Financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial 
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognised where:

•	 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired;

•	 the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from 
the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them 
in full without material delay to a third party under a 
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Group 
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of 

the asset, or (b) the Group has transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but 
has transferred control of the asset.

b) Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation 
under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another 
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the 
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such 
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition 
of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, 
and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Impairment and uncollectibility of financial assets
An assessment is made at each end of the reporting period 
to determine whether there is an objective evidence that 
a specific financial asset may be impaired. If any such 
evidence exists, impairment loss is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.  Impairment is 
determined as follows:

(a)	For assets carried at fair value, impairment is the difference 
between cost and fair value, less any impairment loss 
previously recognised in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss;

(b)	For assets carried at cost, impairment is the difference 
between carrying value and the present value of future 	
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of 
return for a similar financial asset;

(c)	For assets carried at amortised cost, impairment is the 
difference between carrying amount and the present 
value of future cash flows discounted at the original 
effective interest rate.

Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are carried at original invoiced amount 
less impairment for non-collectability of these receivables. 
An allowance for impairment is made when there is an 
objective evidence (such as the probability of insolvency or 
significant financial difficulties of the debtor) that the Group 
will not be able to collect all of the amounts due under 
the original terms of the invoice. The carrying amount of 
the receivable is reduced through use of an allowance 
account. Impaired debts are derecognised when they are 
assessed as uncollectible.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement 
of cash flows comprise cash on hand, bank balances and 
short-term deposits with an original maturity of three 
months or less, net of bank overdrafts, if any.
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Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Interest bearing loans and borrowings are recognised 
initially at fair value of the amount borrowed, less directly 
attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, 
interest bearing loans and borrowings and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate (EIR) method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit 
or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as 
through the EIR amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any 
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 
that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is 
included as finance costs in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss.

Gain or loss is recognised in consolidated statement of 
profit or loss when the liability is derecognised.

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the 
net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of 
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal 
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and 
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether 
there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If 
any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing 
for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s 
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (CGU) fair value 
less costs to sell and its value in use. Recoverable amount 
is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does 
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of 
those from other assets or groups of assets. 

When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its 
recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and 
is written down to its recoverable amount.

Inventories 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Costs include those expenses incurred in bringing 
each product to its present location and condition.  Cost is 
determined using the First In First Out (FIFO) method. Net 
realisable value is based on estimated selling price less any 
further costs expected to be incurred on completion and 
disposal.

Fair value measurement
The Group measures financial instruments, such as, 
derivatives at fair value at each reporting date. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an 
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. 
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption 
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability 
takes place either:

•	 In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
•	 In the absence of a principal market, in the most 		
	 advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be 
accessible to by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using 
the assumptions that market participants would use 
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market 
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into 
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by 
selling it to another market participant that would use the 
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate 
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are 
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of 
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured 
or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as 
follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant 
to the fair value measurement as a whole:

•	 Level 1 — 	Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active 	
	 markets for identical assets or liabilities 

•	 Level 2 — 	Valuation techniques for which the 		
	 lowest level input that is significant to 		
	 the fair value measurement is directly or 		
	 indirectly observable

•	 Level 3 — 	Valuation techniques for which the 		
	 lowest level input that is significant to 		
	 the fair value measurement is unobservable
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For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, 
the Group determines whether transfers have occurred 
between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing 
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the 
end of each reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has 
determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of 
the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability 
and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

Foreign currencies
Foreign currency translation
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate 
of exchange ruling at date of the transaction. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at 
the reporting date are reported at the exchange rate ruling 
at reporting date. Any gain or loss arising from changes in 
exchange rates is recognised in the consolidated income 
statement.

The results and financial position of all the Group entities 
(none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary 
economy) that have a functional currency different from the 
presentation currency are translated into the presentation 
currency as follows:

(a)	assets and liabilities for each statement of financial 
position presented are translated at the closing rate at 
the date of that financial position;

(b)	income and expenses for each income statement are 
translated at average exchange rates (unless this average 
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative 
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in 
which case income and expenses are translated at the 
rate on the dates of the transactions); and

(c)	all resulting exchange differences are recognised in 
other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the 
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and 
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing 
rate. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

Employees’ end of service benefits
End of service gratuity plans
The Group provides end of service benefits to its employees 
in accordance with employment contracts and Qatar Law 
No. 14 of 2004, the Labour Law. The entitlement to these 
benefits is based upon the employees’ final salary and 
length of service, subject to the completion of a minimum 
service period. The expected costs of these benefits are 
accrued over the period of employment.

Pension plan 
Under Law No. 24 of 2002 on Retirement and Pension, the 
Group is required to make contributions to a Government 
fund scheme for Qatari employees calculated as a 
percentage of the Qatari employees’ salaries. The Group’s 
obligations are limited to these contributions, which are 
expensed when due. 

Accounts payable and accruals
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the 
future for services received or when the risks and rewards 
associated with goods are transferred to the Group, 
whether billed by the supplier or not.  

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has an obligation 
(legal or constructive) arising from a past event, and the 
costs to settle the obligation are both probable and able to 
be reliably measured.

Earnings per share
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share 
(EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated 
by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of the Company by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. 
Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss 
attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the 
effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which 
comprise convertible notes and share options granted to 
employees, if any.

Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component of the Group 
that engages in business activities from which it may 
earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues 
and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the 
Group’s other components, whose operating results are 
reviewed regularly by the Group’s top management (being 
the chief operating decision maker) to make decisions 
about resources allocated to each segment and assess its 
performance, and for which discrete financial information 
is available.
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Taxes
Taxes are calculated based on tax laws and regulations 
in other jurisdictions in which the Group operates. Tax 
provision is made based on an evaluation of the expected 
tax liability. The Group operations inside Qatar are not 
subject to income tax.

Current income tax:
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current year 
and prior years are measured at the amount expected to 
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.

The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax 
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at 
the end of the financial reporting year.

Deferred tax:
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on 
temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes at the end of the reporting year.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences, except:

•	 When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial 
recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and, 
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss

•	 In respect of taxable temporary differences associated 
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests 
in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of 
the temporary differences can be controlled and it is 
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse 
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits 
and unutilised tax losses, to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of 
unused tax credits and unutilised tax losses can be utilised 
except:

•	 Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible 
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition 	
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; 
and

•	 In respect of deductible temporary differences 
associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 
and 	 interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are 
recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the 
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable 
future and taxable profit will be available against which 
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at 
the end of the financial reporting year and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable 
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax 
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are 
reassessed at the end of the financial reporting year and 
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable 
that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to 
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset 
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and 
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
at the end of the financial reporting year.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised directly in 
equity is recognised in equity and not in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if 
a legally enforceable right exists to set off current income 
tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the 
deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the 
same taxation authority.

Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, 
or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the 
arrangement at the inception date. The arrangement is 
assessed for whether fulfilment of the arrangement is 
dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset or assets, even 
if that right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement.

Group as a lessee
Finance leases that substantially transfer all the risks and 
benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are 
capitalised at the commencement of the lease at the fair 
value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are 
apportioned between finance charges and reduction of 
the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest 
on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges 
are recognised in finance costs in the consolidated income 
statement.
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A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life of the 
asset. However, if there is no reasonable certainty that the 
Group will obtain benefit after the end of the lease term, 
the asset is depreciated over the lease term.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an operating 
expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor
Leases in which the Group does not transfer, substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset are 
classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in 
negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying 
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease 
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents 
are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are 
earned.

Current versus non-current classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities based on current/
non-current classification. An asset as current when it is: 
•	 Expected to be realised or intended to sold or 

consumed in normal operating cycle
•	 Held primarily for the purpose of trading
•	 Expected to be realised within twelve months 

after the reporting period, or
•	 Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from 

being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at 
least twelve months after the reporting period

All other assets are classified as non-current. A liability is 
current when:
•	 It is expected to be settled in normal operating 		
	 cycle
•	 It is held primarily for the purpose of trading
•	 It is due to be settled within twelve months after 		
	 the reporting period, or
•	 There is no unconditional right to defer the 	
	 settlement of the liability for at least 		
	 twelve months after the reporting period

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

Use of estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements 
in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the reporting date and 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 
the reporting period. Although these estimates are based 
on management’s best knowledge of current events and 
actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those 
estimates (See Note 30).

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
regularly. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period or in the period of the revision and 
future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.

3  OTHER INCOME

2016 2015
QR QR

Dividend income 9,800,370 9,276,948
Interest income 8,410,371 6,459,861
Gain on sale of available for sale of investments (net) - 1,051,844
Gain on sale of property and equipment - 884,412
Miscellaneous income 2,382,602 3,415,064

20,593,343 21,088,129
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4  GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

2016 2015
QR QR

Salaries, wages and other benefits 147,480,350 141,231,298
Rent 41,966,577 39,825,039
Contract labour charges 23,098,790 18,123,419
Water and electricity 19,251,275 13,098,586
Repairs and maintenance 8,671,366 6,405,425
Bank charges, commission and credit card charges 7,614,230 6,871,741
Board of Directors’ remuneration 6,234,936 5,381,575
Franchise fee 3,231,928 3,327,991
Advertisement expenses 3,122,179 4,925,585
Vehicle running and insurance expenses 2,941,081 2,779,243
Telephone and postage 2,691,477 2,170,229
Travelling expenses 2,135,040 2,266,639
Consulting and professional fees 1,732,300 1,293,208
Printing and stationery 1,331,602 1,386,051
Donations 90,699 106,285
Loss on sale of property and equipment 15,912 -
Others 6,553,650 3,593,786

278,163,392 252,786,100

5  INCOME TAX
	
The major components of income tax expenses is as follows:

2016 2015

QR QR

Income tax expense

 Deferred income tax 335,274 122,492

Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit or loss 335,274 122,492

The Group is subject to income tax on its operation in the Sultanate of Oman. Due to tax losses incurred on operations in 
Sultanate of Oman, no current tax expenses were recognised during the year. 

The movements on the deferred income tax assets (liability) as follows:

2016 2015
QR QR

 Balance at 1 January 298,937 421,429
 Reversal of temporary differences for the year )335,274( )122,492(

At 31 December )36,337( 298,937

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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6  PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

The depreciation charged has been allocated in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

2016 2015
QR QR

Cost of sales - 97,683
Depreciation 46,616,847 34,135,363

46,616,847 34,233,046

7  GOODWILL

The carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated to the following cash generating units:
2016 2015

QR QR

Qatar Markets Company W.L.L. 227,028,986 227,028,986
Al Meera Market S.A.O.C. (Al Safeer Oman) – five supermarkets 117,069,012 117,069,012

344,097,998 344,097,998

The recoverable amounts of these cash generating units have been determined based on value in use calculations. The 
calculation uses cash flow projections based on forecast revenues and profit margins approved by management covering 
5 years period at a discount rate of 8% (2015: 7%). The forecast EBITDA has been adjusted for changes in working capital and 
capital expenditure requirements to arrive at free cash flows forecast. The cash flows beyond five – year period are extrapolated 
using a steady growth rate of 3.6% (2015: 5%), which is the projected long term growth rate of the Group.

Other assumptions used in calculation of value in use includes expected revenue growth rate, fixed average EBITDA margin 
and capital expenditure forecast. Current and historical transactions have been used as indicators of future transactions.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the above key assumptions on which the recoverable amount 
is based would not cause the carrying value of the goodwill to materially exceed its recoverable amount, accordingly, no 
impairment loss was recognised in years 2016 and 2015. No impairment has been recognised on Goodwill since its initial 
recognition.

8  OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
This represents the customer contracts and non-compete agreement acquired in the business combination and computer 
software. These assets are amortised over its useful economic lives.
The movements are as follows:

2016 2015
QR QR

Cost:
At 1 January 17,720,027 17,714,027
Additions           91,148 -
Transfers - 6,000

At 31 December 17,811,175 17,720,027

Amortisation:
At 1 January 8,989,066 7,473,245
Charge for the year    1,533,455 1,515,821

At 31 December 10,522,521 8,989,066

Net carrying amount:
31 December 7,288,654 8,730,961

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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9  INVESTMENT SECURITIES 

2016 2015
QR QR

Quoted equity shares 145,574,712 196,562,702
Unquoted equity shares 14,352,159 13,700,119

159,926,871 210,262,821
Notes:
(i)	  Investment securities represent investments in quoted and un-quoted shares carried at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (FVOCI).
(ii)	 The above quoted equity investments are managed by reputable assets managers, who take investment decisions 

on behalf of the Group.
(iii)	 Upon disposal of these equity investments, any balances within the OCI reserve for these equity investments is 

reclassified to retained earnings and is not reclassified to profit or loss.
(iv)	 The explanations regarding the change of accounting policy have been disclosed in Note 31.
(v)	 The movements in these investment securities are as follows:

2016 2015
QR QR

At 1 January 210,262,821 210,304,302
Additions 58,505,662 195,494,585
Disposals )111,161,918( )149,960,548(
Changes in fair value of investment 1,643,265 1,975,371
Adjustment on adoption of IFRS 9 (Note 31) 677,041 -
Impairment loss - )47,550,889(

At 31 December 159,926,871 210,262,821

10  INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

The Group has the following investment in associates:

 Place of
 Proportion of ownership

interest
incorporation 2016 2015

Name of associate Principal activity and operation % %

Aramex Logistics Services 
Company L.L.C. (i)

Warehousing, value added services 
and delivery truck Qatar 51% 51%

Al Oumara Bakeries Company 
W.L.L. (ii)

Manufacture and sale of bakery 
products Qatar 51% 51%

The movement of investment in associates is as follows:
2016 2015

QR QR

At 1 January 98,497 98,497
Provision recorded on Al Oumara Bakeries Company W.L.L. )2,401,478( )1,708,576(
Share of results )1,478,239( )692,902(
Presented separately as a provision for deficit in an associate on Al Oumara Bakeries Company 
W.L.L. (Note 19) 3,879,717 2,401,478

98,497 98,497
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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i) Aramex Logistics Services Company L.L.C.

Summarised statement of financial position and statement of profit or loss:
2016 2015

QR QR

Total assets 200,000 200,000
Total liabilities (6,869) (6,869)

Net assets 193,131 193,131

Interest in associate 51% 51%

Group’s share in associate’s net assets 98,497 98,497

Net loss for the year - -

Group’s share in associate’s net losses - -

ii) Al Oumara Bakeries Company W.L.L.

a) Summarised statement of financial position:
2016 2015

QR QR

Current assets 1,213,628 1,135,678
Non-current assets 554,202 758,037
Non-current liabilities (239,484) (168,351)
Current liabilities (9,135,634) (6,434,144)

 Net assets (7,607,288) (4,708,780)

Interest in associate 51% 51%

Carrying amount of investment (3,879,717) (2,401,478)

b) Summarised statement of profit or loss:
2016 2015

QR QR

 Sales 3,987,357 3,890,068
 Cost of sales (6,430,206) (5,445,059)

 Gross loss (2,442,849) (1,554,991)

 Other Income - 38,000
General and administrative expenses (401,264) (113,297)
Depreciation and amortisation expenses (54,395) (47,550)

LOSS FOR THE YEAR (2,898,508) (1,677,838)

Interest in associate 51% 51%

 Share of loss of an associate 1,478,239 692,902

Note:

The share in the net assets of this associate was brought to Nil due to deficits in equity of this investee at the reporting date. 
The Group has recognised the share in net deficit amounting to QR 3.8 million as at 31 December 2016 as provision for 
deficit in associate (2015: QR 2.4 million) (Note 19).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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11  INVENTORIES
2016 2015

QR QR

Finished goods 188,391,278 184,684,471
Consumables and spare parts 1,676,167 1,152,824

190,067,445 185,837,295
Less: Provision for obsolete and slow moving inventories )5,205,340( )2,418,035(

184,862,105 183,419,260

The movement in the provision for obsolete and slow moving inventories is as follows:

2016 2015
QR QR

At 1 January 2,418,035 1,675,313
Charge for the year 2,787,305 742,722
At 31 December 5,205,340 2,418,035

12  ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND PREPAYMENTS
2016 2015

QR QR

Trade accounts receivable 11,914,829 13,832,546
Less: Allowance for impairment of receivables (Note 28) (1,780,129) (2,320,046)

10,134,700 11,512,500
Credit card receivables 17,222,818 6,911,351
Advances to supplier 13,981,183 12,017,419
Deposits 9,252,602 7,511,302
Prepaid expenses 6,990,009 5,856,599
Staff receivables 3,779,027 3,817,246
Rent receivables 1,838,297 1,789,356
Accrued interest income 1,201,941 1,353,033
Other receivables 498,145 315,589

64,898,722 51,084,395

Notes:
(i)	 The credit risk disclosures to expected credit losses on trade accounts receivable under IFRS 9, have been disclosed in 

Note 28.
(ii)	 It is not the practice of the Group to obtain collateral over trade accounts receivable and the vast majority are, 

therefore, unsecured.

13  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 	
2016 2015

QR QR

Cash in hand 2,988,921 2,025,116
Cash at bank 246,628,938 271,131,342
Short term deposits (Net of provision) (Note 28) 250,935,817 198,366,000

500,553,676 471,522,458
Term deposits maturing after 90 days (156,898,035) (133,000,000)

343,655,641 338,522,458
Notes:
(i)	 The term deposits have different maturities and carry profit margin at market rates.
(ii)	 The credit risk disclosures to expected credit losses on short term deposit under IFRS 9 have been disclosed in Note 28.
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14  SHARE CAPITAL
2016 2015

QR QR

Authorised, issued and fully paid:	
20,000,000 shares of QR 10 each 200,000,000 200,000,000

15  RESERVES

Legal reserve
In accordance with Qatar Commercial Companies Law, 10% of the profit for the year is transferred to a legal reserve. Transfers 
to this reserve are required to be made until such time as it equals at least 50% of the issued share capital of the Group. The 
Group has resolved to discontinue such transfers as the reserve exceeded 50% of share capital. This reserve is not available for 
distribution except in the circumstances stipulated in Qatar Commercial Companies Law.

Optional reserve
In accordance with the Group’s Articles of Association, upon suggestion of the Board of Directors, the General Assembly may 
decide to deduct a portion of the net profit for the optional reserve. This optional reserve shall be used in the forms and ways 
that will be decided by the General Assembly. There were no movements during the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: 
Nil).

Other reserves
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through other comprehensive income reserve
The Group has elected to recognise changes in the fair value of investments in investment securities in other comprehensive 
income. These changes are accumulated within the Financial assets at FVOCI reserve within equity. The Group transfers 
amounts from this reserve to retained earnings when the relevant investment securities are derecognised.

The breakdown and movements in “other reserves” during the year are stated below:

AFS
financial

assets

Financial
assets at FVOCI

Total
other

reserves
QR QR QR

At 1 January 2015 )13,918,815( - )13,918,815(

Revaluation )44,035,128( - )44,035,128(
Reclassification to profit or loss )1,540,390( - )1,540,390(
Impairment losses 47,550,889 - 47,550,889

Other comprehensive income for the year 1,975,371 - 1,975,371

At 31 December 2015 )11,943,444( - )11,943,444(

Reclassification on adoption of IFRS 9 (Note 31) 11,943,444 )11,943,444( -

Adjustment on adoption of IFRS 9 - 677,041 677,041

Transfer of loss on disposal of investment securities at FVOCI to 
retained earnings - 2,502,421 2,502,421

Revaluation - 1,643,265 1,643,265

Other comprehensive income for the year - 4,822,727 4,822,727

At 31 December 2016 - )7,120,717( )7,120,717(
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16  DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

During the year 2015, the Group disposed of 49% of its interest in Al Oumara Bakeries Company W.L.L., (Al Oumara) a subsidiary, 
to Qatar Quality Food Company L.L.C., reducing its interest to 51%. The proceeds on disposal amounting to QR 3 million were 
received in cash. The disposal was completed on 29 July 2015, where the control of Al Oumara was transferred to the acquirer. 
The retained ownership interest in Al Oumara is recognised as investment in associate and accounted for using equity method.

a.  Analysis of net assets derecognised 

The Group derecognised the assets, liabilities and equity as at date of the loss of control as follows:

QR

ASSETS

Property and equipment 842,045

 Inventories 421,573

Accounts receivable and prepayments 92,695

Amounts due from a related party 729,595

Bank balances and cash 121,647

2,207,555

LIABILITIES

Employees’ end of service benefits )160,322(

Accounts payable and accruals )206,512(

Amounts due to a related party )5,190,870(

)5,557,704(

Net assets directly associated with the disposal group )3,350,149(

  The realised gain on disposal of a subsidiary is as follows:
QR

Proceeds received 3,000,000

Add: Carrying amount of the 49% interest disposed (deficit) 1,641,573

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 4,641,573

  Net cash inflows on disposal of partial interest in a subsidiary:
QR

Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents 3,000,000

 Less: Bank balances and cash )121,647(

2,878,353
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b.  Discontinued operations

The results of discontinued operations included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss arising from the above 
transaction. The comparative profit from discontinued operations have been re-presented to include those operations as 
discontinued in the current year.

 Up to date of
 disposal in

2015
QR

Sales 1,570
Cost of sales (1,118,206)

Gross loss (1,116,636)
General and administrative expenses (70,225)
Depreciation (24,708)

Loss for the period up to the date of derecognition (1,211,569)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 4,641,573

Profit from discontinued operations attributable to the owners of the Group 3,430,004

Net cash flows from discontinued operations are set out below:
2015

QR

Net cash used in operating activities )6,414(
Net cash used in financing activities )60,304(

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents )66,718(

c.  Provision for deficit in an associate

The 51% retained interest in Al Oumara Bakeries Company W.L.L. is accounted for using the equity method in these consolidated 
financial statements. Provisions are recognised to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or 
made payments on behalf of the associate.

The summarised statement of financial position as of 31 December 2015 is as follows:

2015
QR

 Total assets 1,893,715
 Total liabilities (6,602,495)

Net deficits (4,708,780)

 Group share holding 51%

Group’s proportionate interest (provision) in associate’s net deficit (2,401,478)
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17  INTEREST BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS
2016 2015

QR QR

Long term Murabaha facility 133,979,704 88,900,000
Deferred financing arrangement cost (123,066) (371,912)

133,856,638 88,528,088
Less: Current portion 12,310,109 3,564,833

121,546,529 84,963,255

This loan represents Murabaha facility obtained from Qatar Development Bank on 20 June 2014. The facility carries a profit rate 
of 3% per annum and is payable over 40 quarterly instalments starting 30 September 2016. The Murabaha is presented net of 
unamortised financing arrangement cost.

The Murabaha was obtained to partially fund an acquisition of a subsidiary in Oman in prior years. The facility agreement 
contains certain covenants related to the capital structure of the operation of the business of Al Meera Markets S.A.O.C., the 
Group’s subsidiary in Oman. During the year 2016, there was an additional draw down amounting to QR 50 million by the 
Group.

18  EMPLOYEES’ END OF SERVICE BENEFITS
2016 2015

QR QR

At 1 January 25,799,696 23,384,170
Provided during the year 5,745,073 4,564,955
End of service benefits paid (2,700,872) (1,989,107)
Derecognition from disposal of a subsidiary (Note 16) - (160,322)

At 31 December 28,843,897 25,799,696

19  ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUALS

2016 2015

QR QR

Trade accounts payable 405,232,415 290,451,283

Dividends payable 88,320,607 70,573,020

Payable to contractors 33,542,643 18,496,861

Accrued expenses 37,605,549 32,593,164

Provision for social and sports fund 4,751,925 3,820,434

Provision for deficit in an associate (Note 10) 3,879,717 2,401,478

Deferred rent income 785,916 1,736,389

Other payables 11,386,766 6,772,089

585,505,538 426,844,718
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20  RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Related party transactions
Related parties represent associated companies, Government and semi Government agencies, associates, major shareholders, 
directors and key management personnel of the Group, and companies of which they are principal owners.  In the ordinary 
course of business, the Group enters into transactions with related parties. Pricing policies and terms of transactions are 
approved by the Group’s management. 

Qatar Holding L.L.C. holds 26% of the Company’s capital. In the course of business, the Group supplies its commodities to 
various Government and semi-Government agencies in the State of Qatar. The Group also avails various services from these 
parties in the State of Qatar. 

The transactions with related parties included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss are as follows:

2016 2015
QR QR

Purchases:
Al Oumara Bakeries Company W.L.L. (Associate) 2,847,958 4,912,717

Sales:
Al Oumara Bakeries Company W.L.L. (Associate) 3,985,944 2,101,069

Sales Commission income:
Al Oumara Bakeries Company W.L.L. (Associate) 1,157,210 525,267

Related party balances
Balances with related parties included in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:

2016 2015
Amounts due from related parties: QR QR

Associates:
Al Oumara Bakeries Company W.L.L. 8,465,771 5,653,460
Aramex Logistics Services Company L.L.C. 11,469 6,919

8,477,240 5,660,379

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties
The transactions with the related parties are performed at the terms equivalent to those that prevails in arm’s length 
transactions. Outstanding balances at the end of the year are unsecured, interest free and the settlement occurs in cash. There 
have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables.

Compensation of key management personnel 

2016
QR

2015
QR

Key management remuneration 5,152,011 5,872,890

Board of Directors’ remuneration 6,234,936 5,797,000

11,386,947 11,669,890
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21   COMMITMENTS 

(a)		 Capital commitments

Estimated capital expenditure contracted for at the reports date but not provided for:

2016 2015

QR QR

Capital commitments – Property and equipment 

Estimated capital expenditure approved and contracted as of the reporting date 247,558,393 195,000,000

(b)		 Operating lease commitments

The Group has entered into non-cancellable lease agreements for certain land and buildings in various divisions.
Future minimum lease rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December are as follows:

2016 2015
QR QR

Within one year  35,484,553  32,122,548
After one year, but not more than five years   91,324,505 104,586,596
More than five years 114,100,398    55,786,608

240,909,456 192,495,752

22  CONTINGENCIES

At 31 December 2016, the Group had contingent liabilities in respect of letters of credit and letters of guarantee and other 
matters arising in the ordinary course of business from which it is anticipated that no material liabilities will arise. The details 
are as follows,

2016 2015
QR QR

 Letters of guarantees 4,949,651 4,780,502
 Letters of credits      892,210       232,250

5,841,861 5,012,752

23  DIVIDENDS 

The Board of Directors have proposed a 90% cash dividend of QR 9 per share totalling QR 180  million for the year 2016, which 
is subject to the approval of the equity holders at the Annual General Assembly (2015: QR 9  per share totaling QR 180 million 
for the year 2015).

During the current  reporting year, following the approval at the Annual General Assembly held on 28  March 2016, the 
Company paid a cash dividend of QR 9 per share totalling QR 180 million (2015: QR 9 per share, totalling QR 180 million) relating 
to the year 2015.

24   CONTRIBUTION TO SOCIAL AND SPORTS FUND 
In accordance with Law No. 13 of 2008, the Group made an appropriation of profit of QR 4.75 million in 2016 (2015: QR 3.8 
million) equivalent to 2.5% of the adjusted net profit of the Group and that of its subsidiaries for the year for the support of 
sports, cultural, social and charitable activities.
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25  EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Parent by the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year. The computation of basic and diluted earnings per share are 
equal as there were no differences in the net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent and weighted number of shares.

2016 2015
QR QR

Profit from continuing and discontinued operations attributable to equity holders of the parent 199,155,622 162,094,323

Profit from continuing operations attributable to equity holders of the parent 199,155,622 158,664,319

Weighted average number of shares 20,000,000 20,000,000

 Basic and diluted earnings per share

Attributable to equity holders of the parent from continuing operations 9.96 7.93
Attributable to equity holders of the parent from discontinued operations - 0.17

 Total basic and diluted earnings per share 9.96 8.10

26  SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and services, and has three 
operating segments as follows:
i)	 The retail segment, which comprises the buying and selling of consumer good
ii)	 The investment segment, which comprises equity and funds held as available-for-sale investments, and fixed 		
	 deposits.
iii)	 The leasing segment, which comprise mainly of renting shops in various malls owned by the Group.
Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource 
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss and is measured 
the same as the operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.

Retail Investment Leasing Total
QR QR QR QR

Year ended 31 December 2016:
Sales 2,604,445,088 - - 2,604,445,088
Cost of sales (2,162,708,043) - - (2,162,708,043)

Gross profit 441,737,045 - - 441,737,045
Shops rental income - - 69,255,385 69,255,385
Dividend income - 9,800,370 - 9,800,370
Interest income - 8,410,371 - 8,410,371
Other income 2,178,393 204,209 - 2,382,602

Operating income 443,915,438 18,414,950 69,255,385 531,585,773
General and administrative expenses (275,797,701) (896,140) (1,469,551) (278,163,392)
Share in net loss of an associate - (1,478,239) - (1,478,239)
Finance costs (3,581,182) - - (3,581,182)
Depreciation and amortisation (44,008,158) - (4,142,144) (48,150,302)

Profit before income tax 120,528,397 16,040,571 63,643,690 200,212,658
Income tax expense (335,274) - - (335,274)
Profit from continuing operations 120,193,123 16,040,571 63,643,690 199,877,384
Profit for the year from discontinued operations - - - -

Profit for the year 120,193,123 16,040,571 63,643,690 199,877,384
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26  SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Retail Investment Leasing Total
QR QR QR QR

Year ended 31 December 2015:
Sales 2,449,080,123 - - 2,449,080,123
Cost of sales (2,021,922,739) - - (2,021,922,739)

Gross profit 427,157,384 - - 427,157,384
Shops rental income - - 50,333,872 50,333,872
Dividend income - 9,276,948 - 9,276,948
Gain on available for sale investments - 1,051,844 - 1,051,844
Interest income - 6,459,861 - 6,459,861
Other income 4,299,476 - - 4,299,476

Operating income 431,456,860 16,788,653 50,333,872 498,579,385
General and administrative expenses (249,854,030) - (2,932,070) (252,786,100)
Impairment loss - (47,550,889) - (47,550,889)
Share in net loss of an associate - (692,902) - (692,902)
Finance costs (2,863,370) - - (2,863,370)
Depreciation and amortisation (32,720,641) - (2,930,543) (35,651,184)

Profit before income tax 146,018,819 (31,455,138) 44,471,259 159,034,940
Income tax expense (122,492) - - (122,492)

Profit from continuing operations 145,896,327 (31,455,138) 44,471,259 158,912,448
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 3,430,004 - - 3,430,004

Profit for the year 149,326,331 (31,455,138) 44,471,259 162,342,452

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers. There were no inter-segment 
sales in the current year (2015: Nil). The accounting policies of the reportable segment are the same as per the Group 
accounting policies described in Note 2.

The following table presents segmental assets regarding the Group’s business segments for the year ended 31 December 
2016 and 31 December 2015 respectively:

Retail Investment Leasing Total

QR QR QR QR

Segment assets:

At 31 December 2016 1,623,236,880 423,741,919 143,903,389 2,190,882,188

At 31 December 2015 1,565,832,359 343,361,317 57,172,839 1,966,366,515
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26  SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Geographically, the Group operates in the State of Qatar and the Sultanate of Oman. Following is the summary of key 
balances related to each geography:

Qatar Oman Total

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

QR QR QR QR QR QR

Total assets 2,006,337,964 1,780,535,474 184,544,224 185,831,041 2,190,882,188 1,966,366,515

Total liabilities 727,256,447 520,914,780 20,985,963 20,257,722 748,242,410 541,172,502

Qatar Oman Total

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

QR QR QR QR QR QR

 Sales 2,468,794,842 2,301,843,934 135,650,246 147,236,189 2,604,445,088 2,449,080,123

 Profit 197,452,732 160,326,843 2,424,652 2,015,609 199,877,384 162,342,452

27  MATERIAL PARTLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES

Financial information of subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests is provided below:

Proportion of equity interest held by non-controlling interests:

 Names of the

subsidiaries

 Country of
incorporation

 Non-controlling
interests

Allocated profit (loss) Accumulated

balances 

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

Al Meera Markets S.A.O.C. Oman 30% 30% 735,171 264,632 39,495,815 38,760,644

Al Meera Oman S.A.O.C. Oman 30% 30% )7,775( )7,062( 1,392,442 1,400,217

Alge Retail Corporation Sarl Switzerland 49% 49% )5,634( )9,441( 2,594 8,228

721,762 248,129 40,890,851 40,169,089

Notes:
The Group has the power to appoint and remove the majority of the Board of Directors of the above stated subsidiaries. 
The relevant activities of these subsidiaries are determined by the Board of Directors based on majority votes. Therefore, 
the directors of the Group concluded that the Group has control over these subsidiaries and they are consolidated in this 
consolidated financial statements. 

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interest is set out 
below. Since there were no material transaction and balances in Alge Retail Corporation Sarl, the relevant amounts have not 
been included in the summarised financial information. The summarised financial information below represents amounts 
before intergroup eliminations.
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Al Meera Markets S.A.O.C. and Al Meera Oman S.A.O.C.

Income statement:

2016 2015
QR QR

Revenue 135,650,245 147,236,189
Other income 9,327,918 8,643,752
Expenses )142,553,511( )155,021,373(

Profit for the year 2,424,652 858,568

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 1,697,256 600,998
Non-controlling interests 727,396 257,570

2,424,652 858,568

Statement of financial position:

2016 2015
QR QR

Non-current assets 146,268,162 145,734,571
Current assets 42,880,676 44,732,709

189,148,838 190,467,280

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 95,405,928 93,708,676
Non-controlling interests 40,888,257 40,160,861
Non-current liabilities 951,060 839,050
Current liabilities 51,903,593 55,758,693

189,148,838 190,467,280

Statement of cash flows

2016 2015

QR QR

Net cash from (used in) operating activities 14,551,597 )1,487,292(

Net cash used in investing activities )13,297,682( )2,953,341(

Net cash (used in) from financing activities )7,801,105( 7,842,963

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents )6,547,190( 3,402,330

28  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

Objective and policies
The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprises of accounts payable and loans and borrowings. The main purpose of these 
financial liabilities is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various financial assets comprise trade and other 
receivables, due from related parties, investment securities and cash and bank balances, which arise directly from its operations. 
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Management reviews 
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks which are summarized below:
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Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and equity price will 
affect the Group’s income, equity or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The management reviews and agrees 
policies for managing each of these risks which are summarised below.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s call 
deposits with floating interest rates.

The sensitivity of the consolidated statement of profit or loss is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on the 
Group’s profit for one year, based on the floating rate financial assets held at 31 December. The effect of decreases will be equal 
and opposite to the effect of increases shown below:

 Changes in
basis points

Effect on profit

QR

2016
Floating rate instruments +25 b.p 369,191

2015
Floating rate instruments +25 b.p 495,915

Equity price risk
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the effect of cumulative changes in fair values recognised in the equity to 
reasonably possible changes in equity prices, with all other variables held constant. The effect of decreases in equity prices is 
expected to be equal and opposite to the effect of the increases shown.

 Changes in
equity prices

Effect on equity

QR

2016
 Quoted equity shares +5% 7,278,736

2015
 Quoted equity shares +5% 9,828,135

Currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes 
in foreign exchange rates. As the Qatari Riyal is pegged to US Dollar, balances in US Dollars are not considered to represent 
significant currency risk. The Group is not exposed to significant currency risk, in light of minimal balances in foreign currencies 
other than US Dollars.

Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk if counterparties fail to make payments as they fall due in respect of:

•	 Payment of trade receivables as invoices fall due 120 days after being raised
•	 Contractual cash flows of bank deposits carried at amortised cost 

The following credit risk modelling applies for financial assets originated from 1 January 2016:
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The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant increase 
in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as 
at the date of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially 
the following indicators are incorporated:

•	 External credit rating (as far as available);
• 	 Actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to 	 	
	 cause a significant change to the customer’s ability to meet its obligations;
• 	 Actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the customer;
• 	 Significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same customer;
• 	 Significant changes in the expected performance and behavior of the customer, including changes in the payment                    	
	 status of customers in the group and changes in the operating results of the customer.

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is more than 30 days past due in 
making a contractual payment. A default on a financial asset is when the counterparty fails to make contractual payments 
within 120 days of when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage 
in a repayment plan with the Group. The Group categorises a loan or receivable for write off when a debtor fails to make 
contractual payments greater than 120 days past due. Where loans or receivables have been written off, the Group continues 
to engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivable due. Where recoveries are made, these are recognised 
in consolidated statement of profit or loss.

i    General approach
General approach is used for fixed deposits and trade accounts receivables with extended credit terms. The Group accounts for 
its credit risk by appropriately providing for expected credit losses on a timely basis. In calculating the expected credit loss rates, 
the Group considers historical loss rates for each category of receivables, and adjusts for forward looking macroeconomic data. 
The Group provides for credit losses against these financial assets as at 31 December 2016 as follows:

 Category
External

Credit rating

Expected
credit loss

rate

Basis for 
recognition of 

expected credit 
loss provision

Estimated gross
carrying amount at 

default

Carrying amount
(net of impairment

provision)

Short term deposit
 Investment

grade 0.3%
12 month 

expected losses 252,526,991 251,809,016

 Trade accounts receivable from
 government entities

 Investment
grade 3.4%

12 month 
expected losses 8,691,185 8,661,584

ii    Simplified approach
For accounts receivable, except for accounts receivable from government entities, Group applies the simplified approach to 
provide for expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for those 
receivables. The loss allowance provision as at 31 December 2016 is determined as follows:

31 December 2016 Current
30 – 60

days past due
61 – 90 days

past due
91 - 120 days

past due
More than 120 
days past due Total

Gross carrying amount 2,279,378 1,171,984 210,486 157,036 1,243,057 5,061,941

Loss allowance provision 194,808 193,859 136,097 132,944 1,092,810 1,750,518

The expected credit losses below also incorporate forward looking information.
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The loss allowance provision as at 31 December 2015 reconciles to the opening loss allowance for that provision as follows:

 General
approach

 Simplified
approach Total

QR QR QR

Closing loss allowance as at 31 December 2015 (calculated under IAS 39) - 2,320,046 2,320,046

Amounts adjusted through opening retained earnings 891,264 )891,264( -

Opening loss allowance as at 1 January 2016 (calculated under IFRS 9) 891,264 1,428,782 2,320,046

Loss allowance (reversed) recognised in profit or loss during the year )143,688( 321,736 178,048

As at 31 December 2016 747,576 1,750,518 2,498,094

The gross carrying amount of trade receivables is QR 11,914,829 (2015: QR 13,832,546) (Note 12).

During the year 2016, the Group made no write-offs of trade accounts receivables and it does not expect to receive future cash 
flows from and no recoveries from collection of cash flows previously written off.

Total loss allowance presented as follows:

2016

QR

Allowance for trade accounts receivable (Note 12) 1,780,129

Allowance for term deposits at amortised cost 717,965

2,498,094

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach to managing 
liquidity risk is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both 
normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s operations.

The table below summaries the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December based on undiscounted 
contractual payment dates and current market interest rate.

On 
demand

Less than 
1 year

1- 5
 years

> 5  
years Total

QR QR QR QR QR

At 31 December 2016

Trade accounts payable - 405,232,415 - - 405,232,415

Dividends payable 88,320,607 - - - 88,320,607

Other payables - 44,929,409 - - 44,929,409

Interest bearing loans  
and borrowings - 16,256,910 65,027,640 75,969,334 157,253,884

88,320,607 466,418,734 65,027,640 75,969,334 695,736,315
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On 
demand

Less than 
1 year

1- 5
 years

> 5 
years Total

QR QR QR QR QR

At 31 December 2015

Trade accounts payable - 290,451,283 - - 290,451,283

Dividends payable 70,573,020 - - - 70,573,020

Other payables - 25,268,950 - - 25,268,950

Interest bearing loans  and borrowings - 6,517,287 41,292,494 59,357,960 107,167,741

70,573,020 322,237,520 41,292,494 59,357,960 493,460,994

Capital management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to 
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group makes adjustments to its capital structure, 
in light of changes in economic and business conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the 
dividend payment to shareholders, or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during 
the years end 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015.

Capital includes share capital and retained earnings and is measured at QR 485,829,206 at 31 December 2016. (2015:  QR 
473,927,930).

29  FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair values
Financial instruments comprise financial assets and financial liabilities.

Financial assets consists of cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale investments, and trade and other receivables. Financial 
liabilities consist of loans and borrowings and trade and other payables.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities, with the exception of certain unquoted available-for-sale investments 
carried at cost, are not materially different from their carrying values.

Fair value hierarchy
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation 
techniques:

Level 1:	 quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2:	 other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either 	
	 directly or indirectly.
Level 3:	 techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on 		
	 observable market data.

As at 31 December, the Group held the following financial instruments measured at fair value:
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31 December 2016 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

QR QR QR QR

Quoted equity shares 145,574,712 145,574,712 - -

Un-quoted equity shares 14,352,159 - - 14,352,159

31 December 2015 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

QR QR QR QR

Quoted equity shares 196,562,702 196,562,702 - -

During the year ended 31 December 2016, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, and 
no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements.

As of 31 December 2015, investment securities include, un-quoted investments amounting to QR 13,700,119 carried at cost 
less any impairment, as their fair values cannot be reliably estimated, due to the uncertain nature of cash flows.

30  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has used its judgments and made estimates in 
determining the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The most significant judgments and estimates used are as 
follows:

Impairment of inventories
Inventories are held at the lower of cost and net realisable value. When inventories become old or obsolete, an estimate is 
made of their net realisable value. For individually significant amounts this estimation is performed on an individual basis. 
Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are old or obsolete, are assessed collectively and a provision applied 
according to the inventory type and the degree of ageing or obsolescence, based on anticipated selling prices.  

Useful lives of property and equipment and intangibles 
The Group’s management determines and intangible assets the estimated useful lives of its property and equipment in order 
to calculate the depreciation. This estimate is determined after considering the expected usage of the asset and intangibles, 
physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence. The Group’s management reviews the residual value and useful 
lives annually and future depreciation and amortaisation charge would be adjusted where the management believes the 
useful lives differ from previous estimates.

Impairment of goodwill
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash generating units to which the 
goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the management to estimate the future cash flows expected 
to arise from the cash generating units and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. The recoverable 
amount of the cash generating unit is determined by management based on value in use calculation which uses cash flow 
projections based on forecast revenue and profit margin which have been projected for five years discrete period. The forecast 
EBITDA has been adjusted for changes in working capital and capital expenditure requirements to arrive at free cash flows 
forecast. The management used discount rate of 8% (2015: 7%) and terminal growth rate of 3.6% (2015: 5%).
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Going concern
The Group’s management has made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and is 
satisfied that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the 
management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements continue to be prepared on a going 
concern basis. 

31  CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

As explained in accounting policies (Note 2), the Group has early adopted IFRS 9 as issued in July 2014, which resulted in 
changes in accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts recognised in the financial statements. In accordance with 
the transitional provisions in IFRS 9, comparative figures have not been restated.

The accounting policies were changed to comply with IFRS 9 as issued by the IASB in July 2014. IFRS 9 replaces the provisions 
of IAS 39 that relate to the recognition, classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities; derecognition 
of financial instruments; impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting. IFRS 9 also significantly amends other standards 
dealing with financial instruments such as IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures.

(a)	 Classification and measurement of financial instruments
The total impact on the Group’s retained earnings due to classification and measurement of financial instruments as at 1 
January 2016 is as follows:

QR

Retained earnings as at 31 December 2015 (as previously reported) 273,927,930

Decrease in provision for trade accounts receivable )569,877(
Increase in provision for term deposits at amortised cost 569,877

Adjustment to retained earnings on early adoption of IFRS 9 -

Retained earnings as at 1 January 2016 (adjusted) 273,927,930

On 1 January 2016, the Group’s management has assessed which business models apply to the financial assets held by the 
Group at the date of initial application of IFRS 9 (1 January 2016) and has classified its financial instruments into the appropriate 
IFRS 9 categories. The main effects resulting from this reclassification are as follows:

Financial assets – 1 January 2016

Available for  
sale (AFS)

Other financial 
assets (Held-
at amortised 

cost)* FVOCI

Total
financial

assets

QR QR QR QR

Opening balance 210,262,821 39,837,769 - 250,100,590

Adjustment on early adoption of IFRS 9

Reclassify non-trading equities from AFS to 
FVOCI )210,262,821( - 210,262,821 -

Opening balance - 39,837,769 210,262,821 250,100,590

* Includes financial assets measured at amortised costs except for cash and cash equivalents. 
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The impact of these changes on the Group’s equity is as follows:

Reserves – 1 January 2016 Effect on
AFS reserves

Effect on
FVOCI

reserve

Effect on
retained
earnings

QR QR QR

Opening balance )11,943,044( - -

Adjustment on early adoption of IFRS 9
Reclassify non-trading equities from AFS to FVOCI 11,943,044 )11,943,044( -

Opening balance - )11,943,044( -

(i)    Equity investments previously classified as available-for-sale

The Group elected to present in Other comprehensive income changes in the fair value of all its equity investments previously 
classified as available-for-sale, as these investments are not held for trading. As a result, assets with a fair value of QR 210,262,821 
were reclassified from available-for-sale financial assets to financial assets at fair value through OCI (FVOCI) and fair value loss of 
11,943,444 were reclassified from the available-for-sale financial assets reserve to the financial assets at fair value through OCI 
reserve on 1 January 2016. There is no longer any reclassification of amounts from reserves to profit or loss on the disposal of 
these equity instruments. Dividends amounting to QR 9,800,370 were recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss.

(ii)	    Reclassifications of financial instruments on adoption of IFRS 9

On the date of initial application, 1 January 2016, the classification and measurement of financial instruments of the Group 
were as follows,

Financial assets – 
1 January 2016 Measurement category Carrying amounts

Original
)IAS 39(

New
)IFRS 9(

Original
QR

New
QR

Difference
QR

Non-current financial assets
Investment securities Available for sale FVOCI 210,262,821 210,939,862 677,041

Current financial assets
Trade accounts receivables Amortised cost Amortised cost 13,832,546 13,832,546 -

Cash and cash equivalents Amortised cost Amortised cost 469,479,342 469,479,342 -

Other receivables Amortised cost Amortised cost 26,005,223 26,005,223 -

(b)	 Impairment of financial assets

The Group has the following two types of financial assets subject to IFRS 9’s new expected credit loss model:

• Trade accounts receivable
• Other financial assets carried at amortised cost

The Group is required to revise its impairment methodology under IFRS 9 for each of these classes of assets. 

The impact of the change in impairment methodology on the Group’s equity is disclosed in the table above.
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